Filed 01-16-2024

Page 1 of 23

FILED 01-16-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No. 2023AP2017-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

JOSEPH S. SCHENIAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MANITOWOC COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JERILYN M. DIETZ PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 18-CT-82

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MELOWSKI & SINGH, LLC

Dennis M. Melowski State Bar No. 1021187

524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, Wisconsin 53081 Tel. 920.208.3800 Fax 920.395.2443 <u>dennis@melowskilaw.com</u>

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER THE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER IN THIS CASE VIOLATED BOTH MR. SCHENIAN'S FOURTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS AND WIS. STAT. § 343.303 WHEN HE FAILED TO "REQUEST" A PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST FROM HIM?

<u>Ttial Court Answered</u>: NO. The circuit court concluded that (1) § 343.303 does not require that the administration of a preliminary breath test must be "made using certain words," and (2) Mr. Schenian "did not choose" to refuse the test even though he had initially been asked to submit to field sobriety tests and the preliminary breath test may be considered a part of that battery. R40 at pp. 2-3; D-App. 104-05.

WHETHER MR. SCHENIAN WAS ARRESTED WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE THAT HE OPERATED A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF AN INTOXICANT IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT?

<u>Trial Court Answered</u>: NO. The circuit court concluded that the officer in this case had probable cause to arrest Mr. Schenian based upon the time of day, Mr. Schenian's admission to consuming intoxicants, the odor of alcohol, his having bloodshot eyes, and his performance on the field sobriety tests. R39 at pp. 2-3; D-App. at 108-09.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant will NOT REQUEST oral argument as this appeal presents a single question of law based upon a set of uncontroverted facts. The issue presented herein is of a nature that can be addressed by the application of longstanding legal principles, the type of which would not be enhanced by oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Mr. Schenian will NOT REQUEST publication of this Court's decision as the common law authority which sets forth the standard for expanding the scope of a detention is well settled.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 23, 2017, Mr. Schenian was charged in Manitowoc County with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant—

Second Offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and Unlawfully Refusing to Submit to an Implied Consent Test, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b). R1.

After retaining counsel, Mr. Schenian filed several pretrial motions including, *inter alia*, a motion to suppress his preliminary breath test obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment and Wis. Stat. § 343.303, and a motion to suppress evidence based upon a lack of probable cause to arrest. R18 & R19. A hearing on Mr. Schenian's motions was held on October 22, 2018. R30.

At the motion hearing, the State offered the testimony of Deputy Cory Hartman of the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Office. R30 at pp. 5-73. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court ordered the parties to submit supplemental briefs. R30 at 76:21 to 78:6.

The parties submitted their respective additional briefs (R33, R34, R35, R36 & R37), and by written decisions filed on January 22, 2019, denied Mr. Schenian's motions on the ground that: (1) § 343.303 does not require that the administration of a preliminary breath test must be "made using certain words" and Mr. Schenian "did not choose" to refuse the test even though he had been asked to submit to field sobriety tests and the preliminary breath test may be considered a part of that battery; and (2) probable cause to arrest Mr. Schenian existed because of the time of day he was detained, his admission to consuming intoxicants, the odor of alcohol about his person, his having bloodshot eyes, and his performance on the field sobriety tests. R40 & R39, respectively; D-App. at 103-10.

On October 17, 2023, Mr. Schenian entered a plea of no contest to the charge of operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, whereupon the Court found him guilty and entered a judgment of conviction. R118; D-App. at 101-02.

It is from the adverse decisions and judgment of the circuit court that Mr. Schenian now appeals to this Court by Notice of Appeal filed on October 23, 2023. R107.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 23, 2017, Joseph Schenian was detained in the Town of Kossuth in Manitowoc County Deputy Cory Hartman of the Manitowoc County Sheriff's Office for operating his motor vehicle with his top-mounted auxiliary lamps lit. R30 at 8:23 to 10:10.

After making contact with Mr. Schenian, Deputy Hartman observed that Mr. Schenian had an odor of intoxicants emanating from his person, bloodshot eyes, and

admitted to having five drinks prior to driving. R30 at 11:16 to 13:146:20-25. Based upon these observations, Deputy Hartman had Mr. Schenian submit to a battery of field sobriety tests. R30 at 15:22 to 16:7.

The first field sobriety test Mr. Schenian performed was the horizontal gaze nystagmus [hereinafter "HGN"] test. R30 at 16:20-21. Deputy Hartman claimed to have observed six out of a possible six clues on this test. R30 at 18:2-5. Notably, Deputy Hartman conceded that the clues he observed on the HGN test might have been present simply because Mr. Schenian was tired and not because he was impaired by alcohol. R30 at 50:8-14.

Mr. Schenian was then asked to perform the walk-and-turn [hereinafter "WAT"] test. R30 at 19:25 to 20:2. Deputy Hartman observed *only one clue* on this test which is below the threshold that indicates impairment. R30 at 20:23 to 21:11

The next test the deputy administered was the one-leg stand test [hereinafter "OLS"]. R30 at 21:12-14. Mr. Schenian again exhibited *only one clue* on this test as well, which is also below the threshold for indicating impairment. R30 at 57:16-21; 59:6-9.

Upon completing the OLS, the deputy administered a counting test which required Mr. Schenian to count backward from 78 or 76 to 55. R30 at 25:1-13. According to the deputy, Mr. Schenian failed this test because he stated the number "69" twice and stopped at 53 instead of 55. R30 at 25:18-21. All of the numbers were otherwise recited in the proper order.

The last test the deputy had Mr. Schenian perform was the "alphabet test" which required him to recite the alphabet from the letter "C" to the letter "T." R30 at 26:8-13. According to Deputy Hartman, Mr. Schenian "mouthed the letters A and B, then verbally started C, and then continued onto T and stopped there," which the deputy *did not consider to be indicative of impairment*. R30 at 26:10-19.

Finally, after completing the foregoing battery of standardized field sobriety tests, Deputy Hartman had Mr. Schenian submit to a preliminary breath test [hereinafter "PBT"]. R30 at 27:18-23. In so doing, however, the deputy admitted that he told Mr. Schenian: "I've got one last test for you to perform, and what I'm going to need you to do is give me approximately an eight second breath, . . ."

without "ask[ing] specifically for the PBT," R30 at 27:16-20 & 64:18-19, respectively.

The foregoing is a general overview of what transpired between the officer and Mr. Schenian, however, for purposes of Mr. Schenian's appeal, there remain other relevant facts of which this Court should be apprised and which will play a significant part in the development of his legal argument below. For example:

Deputy Hartman acknowledged that throughout his entire encounter with Mr. Schenian, not only did he provide "appropriate responses" to the deputy, but "[h]is responses were intelligent" (R30 at 38:16-20);

Likewise, there was no instance in which Mr. Schenian's speech was "thick tongued" or in which it was not "clear" (Tr. 40:14-21);

Deputy Hartman further stated that Mr. Schenian was "cooperative with [him] from start to finish" of their encounter (Tr. 41:20-22);

When Deputy Hartman activated his emergency lights, Mr. Schenian demonstrated an appropriate situational awareness by immediately pulling his vehicle over to the side of the road and parking in response to the lights (R30 at 10:7-13);

The timeliness with which a person stops their vehicle in response to an officer's lights is something Deputy Hartman looks for to determine whether the person may be impaired (Tr. 36:17-24) and

Mr. Schenian's ability to park his vehicle safely and properly at roadside was evidence that he has an awareness of his surroundings which is not impaired by alcohol (Tr. 37:3-17).

For the reasons set forth below, Mr. Schenian proffers that the facts of this case indicate that: (1) the PBT was not administered in accordance with § 343.303 and the Fourth Amendment; and (2) Deputy Hartman lacked probable cause to arrest Mr. Schenian for an operating while intoxicated violation.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented in this appeal question whether the PBT was not lawfully administered and whether the circuit court erred in finding that probable cause existed to arrest Mr. Schenian. Both issues are based upon the facts adduced at the evidentiary hearing, and because these questions involve applying a constitutional standard to undisputed testimony, this Court reviews the questions of law *de novo*. *State v. Samuel*, 2002 WI 34, 252 Wis. 2d 26, 643 N.W.2d 423.

Case 2023AP002017 Brief of Appellant

ARGUMENT

I. THE FOURTH AMENDMENT PRINCIPLES UNDERGIRDING MR. SCHENIAN'S ISSUES ON APPEAL.

Because both issues Mr. Schenian raises on appeal implicate safeguards afforded by the Fourth Amendment, it is necessary to begin the analysis of the questions he raises by first weaving the common thread which is sewn throughout the tapestry of each of his contentions.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. "The Fourth Amendment's purpose is to prevent arbitrary and oppressive interference by law enforcement officials with the privacy and personal security of individuals." *State v. Riechl*, 114 Wis. 2d 511, 515, 339 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1983). Capricious police action is not tolerated under the umbrella of the Fourth Amendment. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted in *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 340 N.W.2d 516 (1983), "[t]he basic purpose of this prohibition is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by government officials." *Id.* at 448-49; *see also Camara v. Municipal Court*, 387 U.S. 523, 528 (1967).

The Wisconsin Constitution provides coextensive protections against unreasonable searches and seizures under Article I, § 11. Wisconsin courts interpret the protections granted by Article 1, § 11 of Wisconsin's Constitution identically to those afforded by the Fourth Amendment. *See State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 18, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598; *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, ¶ 21, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

When applying the protections against unreasonable searches and seizures, both federal and state courts have consistently held that "[c]onstitutional provisions for the security of persons and property should be **liberally construed**." *Mapp v*.

Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 647 (1961)(emphasis added), citing *Boyd v. United States*, 116 U.S. 616, 635 (1886).

A close and literal construction deprives [these protections] of half their efficacy, and leads to gradual depreciation of the right [to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures], as if it consisted more in sound than in substance. It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon.

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 229 (1973)(emphasis added).

The foregoing authority does not stand alone as time and again the Supreme Court has consistently repeated that the Fourth Amendment "guaranties are to be **liberally construed to prevent impairment of the protection extended**." *Grau v. United States*, 287 U.S. 124, 127 (1932)(emphasis added). The High Court has admonished that "all owe the duty of vigilance for [the Fourth Amendment's] effective enforcement lest there shall be impairment of the rights for the protection of which it was adopted." *Go-Bart Importing Co. v. United States*, 282 U.S. 344, 357 (1931). Ultimately, "the Fourth Amendment . . . should be liberally construed **in favor of the individual**." *Sgro v. United States*, 287 U.S. 206, 210 (1932)(emphasis added).

It is under the rubric of the foregoing paradigm that the questions presented by Mr. Schenian must be analyzed. Thus, any "close calls"—in the common vernacular—with respect to whether the officer's decision to administer the preliminary breath test in the manner which he did and to arrest Mr. Schenian were constitutionally unreasonable should be resolved in Mr. Schenian's favor.

II. THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST VIOLATED BOTH THE FOURTH AMENDMENT AND WIS. STAT. § 343.303.

A. The Seizure of a Person's Breath Implicates the Fourth Amendment.

The seizure of a sample of a person's breath is a cognizable seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes and is, therefore, afforded the full protection of the Fourth Amendment. In *Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives' Assoc.*, 489 U.S. 602 (1989), the United States Supreme Court examined whether a federal regulation which permitted quasi-private railways to obtain breath samples from railroad personnel who were involved in accidents on the railroad implicated Fourth Amendment protections for the suspect railroad workers. *Id.* at 614-15. In holding that the Fourth Amendment *was implicated in the seizure of breath samples* from railroad employees, the High Court stated:

We are unwilling to conclude, in the context of this facial challenge, that breath and urine tests required by private railroads in reliance on Subpart D will not implicate the Fourth Amendment.

•••

We have long recognized that a "compelled intrusio[n] into the body for blood to be analyzed for alcohol content" must be deemed a Fourth Amendment search. See Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 767-768 (1966). See also Winston v. Lee, 470 U.S. 753, 760 (1985). In light of our society's concern for the security of one's person, see, e. g., Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 9 (1968), it is obvious that this physical intrusion, penetrating beneath the skin, infringes an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. The ensuing chemical analysis of the sample to obtain physiological data is a further invasion of the tested employee's privacy interests. Cf. Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U.S. 321, 324-325 (1987). Much the same is true of the breath-testing procedures required under Subpart D of the regulations. Subjecting a person to a breathalyzer test, which generally requires the production of alveolar or "deep lung" breath for chemical analysis, see, e. g., California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 481 (1984), implicates similar concerns about bodily integrity and, like the blood-alcohol test we considered in Schmerber, should also be deemed a search, see 1 W. LaFave, Search and Seizure § 2.6(a), p. 463 (1987). See also Burnett v. Anchorage, 806 F.2d 1447, 1449 (9th Cir. 1986); Shoemaker v. Handel, 795 F.2d 1136, 1141 (3rd Cir. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 986 (1986).

Skinner, 489 U.S. at 615, 616-17 (emphasis added).

Even more recently, the United States Supreme Court again acknowledged that a suspect may not be compelled to provide a breath sample. In *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 579 U.S. 438 (2016), the Supreme Court noted with respect to one of the cases joined with Birchfield's (a defendant by the name of Beylund) that:

Unlike the other petitioners, Beylund was not prosecuted for refusing a test. He submitted to a blood test after police told him that the law required his submission, and his license was then suspended and he was fined in an administrative

proceeding. The North Dakota Supreme Court held that Beylund's consent was voluntary on the erroneous assumption that the State could permissibly compel . . . breath tests. Because voluntariness of consent to a search must be "determined from the totality of all the circumstances," we leave it to the state court on remand to reevaluate Beylund's consent given the partial inaccuracy of the officer's advisory.

Birchfield, 579 U.S. at 478 (citations omitted; emphasis added).

Similarly, in *County of Milwaukee v. Proegler*, 95 Wis. 2d 614, 291 N.W.2d 608 (Ct. App. 1980), the Wisconsin Court of Appeals recognized that **"the taking of a breath sample is a search and seizure within the meanings of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions**, . . . *" Id.* at 623, citing *Waukesha Mem'l Hosp., Inc. v. Baird*, 45 Wis. 2d 629, 173 N.W.2d 700 (1970), and *State v. Bentley*, 92 Wis. 2d 860, 286 N.W.2d 153 (Ct. App. 1979).

"Warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment" and subject to "specifically established and well-delineated exceptions to the warrant requirement." *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 18, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834, citing *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). Included among these exceptions are searches conducted pursuant to *freely and voluntarily* given consent. *Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 18 (emphasis added), citing *Meyers*, 218 Wis. 2d at 196. "The State bears the burden of proving that consent was given freely and voluntarily." *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 222. It must satisfy that burden "by clear and convincing evidence." *Meyers*, 218 Wis. 2d at 197. The consent must be a free, intelligent, unequivocal and specific consent without any duress or coercion, actual or implied. *Holt v. State*, 17 Wis. 2d 468, 117 N.W.2d 626 (1962). Consent is not voluntary if the State proves "no more than acquiescence to a claim of lawful authority." *Bumper v. North Carolina*, 391 U.S. 543, 548-49 (1968)(emphasis added).

B. The Requirements Imposed by Wis. Stat. § 343.303.

Apart from the Fourth Amendment implications of a PBT, there are conditions prerequisite to the preliminary seizure of a person's breath imposed by the legislature in § 343.303. More specifically, § 343.303 provides in relevant part that "[i]f a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person is violating or has violated s. 346.63(1) or (2m) or a local ordinance in conformity

therewith, . . . , the officer, prior to an arrest, may **request** the person to provide a sample of his or her breath for a preliminary breath screening test" Wis. Stat. § 343.303 (2023-24)(emphasis added).

Note must be taken of the fact that the legislature required law enforcement officers to "request" preliminary breath tests. *Id.* The statute does not permit the officer to "demand," "require," "obtain" or otherwise "direct" the suspect to submit. A "request," by definition, denotes a *choice* otherwise it would be deemed a "requirement." When the meaning of a statute is plain on its face, there is no reason for interpretation. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 45-46, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110; *see also, Seider v. O'Connell*, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 43, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659. Because the plain meaning of § 343.303 does not permit an officer to simply present a PBT device to a suspect and tell him or her to provide a breath sample as though the suspect has no *choice* in the matter, it is a violation of the plain language of the statute for a law enforcement officer to so act.

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