Page 1 of 18

FILED 03-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2023AP2017-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH S. SCHENIAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MANITOWOC COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JERILYN M. DIETZ PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 18-CT-82

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Seth J. Reinhard Assistant District Attorney

Manitowoc County District Attorney's Office 1010 S. 8th St, Room 325 Manitowoc, Wisconsin 54220 Phone: 920-683-4070 Fax: 920-683-5046 seth.reinhard@da.wi.gov

ARGUMENT
I. THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE
PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST WAS NOT IN
VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT
OR WIS. STAT. § 343.303 3
A. Applicable legal principles 3
B. The circuit court did not err in concluding
that Schenian had voluntary taken the
PBT
II. THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST
SCHENIAN FOR OPERATING WHILE
INTOXICATED UNDER THE TOTALITY OF
THE CIRCUMSTANCES 7
A. Applicable legal principles7
B. The circuit court properly concluded that
Deputy Hartman had probable cause to
arrest Schenian for OWI
CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Wisconsin Statutes

Wis. Stat. § 343.303 3, 5, 6, 7
Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) 6, 7
Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)

United States Supreme Court Cases

Birchfield v. North Dakota, 579 U.S. 438, 136 S.Ct. 2160
(2016)
Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives 'Ass 'n, 489 U.S. 602,
626, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 1418 (1989) 3

Wisconsin Supreme Court Cases

County of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999) 10, 11, 12
County of Ozaukee v. Quelle, 198 Wis. 2d 269, 542 N.W.2d 169 (1995)
<i>State v. Blatterman</i> , 362 Wis. 2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26, (2015)
<i>State v. Koch,</i> 175 Wis.2d 684, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993)
<i>State v. Lange</i> , 317 Wis. 2d 383, 766 N.W.2d 551 (2009)
<i>State v. Lemberger</i> , 374 Wis.2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232 (2017)
<i>State v. Reitter</i> , 227 Wis. 2d 213, 595 N.W.2d 213 (1999)

<i>State v. Nordness</i> , 128 Wis.2d 15, 381 N.W.2d 300, (1986)
<i>State v. Richardson</i> , 156 Wis.2d 128, 148, 456 N.W.2d 830, 838 (1990)
<i>State v. Robinson</i> , 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463 (2010)
<i>State v. Secrist</i> , 224 Wis.2d 201, 589 N.W.2d 387 (2001)
South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 565, 103 S.Ct. 916, 923 (1983)

Wisconsin Court of Appeals Cases

State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 525 N.W.2d 102, (Ct.
App. 1994)
State v. Mallick, 210 Wis. 2d 427, 433, 565 N.W.2d 245,
247 (Ct. App. 1997) 4

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2023AP2017-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH S. SCHENIAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MANITOWOC COUNTY, BRANCH II, THE HONORABLE JERILYN M. DIETZ PRESIDING, TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 18-CT-82

REPLY BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The plaintiff-respondent, State of Wisconsin (State), requests neither oral argument nor publication.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Joseph S. Schenian, appeals a judgment convicting him of operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), second offense, and sentence was stayed pending appeal. R118. Schenian was convicted of PAC after he pled no contest to the charge. R110.

The State charged Schenian with Operating While Intoxicated (OWI), second offense, and PAC, second offense. R110. Schenian moved to suppress the preliminary breath test (PBT) result due to coerced collection and moved to suppress evidence based on lack of probable cause to arrest. R18; R19. He asserted that the request for a PBT must be made in a particular matter, that, alternatively, that the PBT should be excluded from the probable cause determination, and that Deputy Cory Hartman lacked probable cause to arrest Schenian for OWI. R18; R19.

The circuit court, the Honorable Jerilyn M. Dietz, denied Schenian's motions after a motion hearing. R40. The court ruled that Schenian had voluntarily taken the PBT, concluding that Schenian retained his right to refuse the PBT without penalty, and the request for the tests made early on did not cease simply because the officer brought out the PBT. R40:4. The court further ruled that under the totality of the circumstances presented Deputy Hartman that he had probable cause to request a PBT and to arrest Schenian for OWI. R39:4.

Schenian plead no contest to PAC, second offense, and the court imposed a stayed sentence of five days jail, \$350 fine plus costs, Alcohol Assessment, 13 months license revocation and ignition interlock period, pending the outcome of the appeal. R110:6. Schenian now appeals the judgment of conviction. R107.

ARGUMENT

I. THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE PRELIMINARY BREATH TEST WAS NOT IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OR WIS. STAT. § 343.303

A. Applicable legal principles

Wis. Stat. § 343.303 states:

"If a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person is violating or has violated s. 346.63(1) ... the officer, prior to an arrest, *may request* the person to provide a sample of his or her breath for a preliminary breath screening test using a device approved by the department for this purpose. *The result of this preliminary breath screening test may be used by the law enforcement officer for the purpose of deciding whether or not the person shall be arrested for a violation of s. 346.63* (1)..." (emphasis added).

Schenian, in referencing to Birchfield v. North Dakota, 579 U.S. 438, 136 S.Ct. 2160 (2016), notes in his brief that "that United States Supreme Cout again acknowledged that a suspect may not be compelled to provide a breath sample." Brief of Appellant, at 12. However, the Court in Birchfield held that the Fourth Amendment allows warrantless breath tests to be obtained by officers as searches incident to arrest as a "breath test does not 'implicat[e] significant privacy concerns." 579 U.S. 438, 463, 136 S.Ct. 2160, 2178 (2016) (citing Skinner v. Railway Labor Executives 'Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 626, 109 S.Ct. 1402, 1418 (1989)). The Birchfield Court reasoned that: 1) "[h]umans have never been known...[to have a] possessory interest in... any of the air in their lungs[;]" 2) a breath tests reveals "only one bit of information" in comparison to the amount of information revealed by a DNA sample; and 3) a breath test causes no

Page 8 of 18

further embarrassment than the arrest. 579 U.S at 461-63, 136 S.Ct. at 2177. While the *Birchfield* Court was discussing evidentiary chemical tests, the analogy is clear for PBTs: no warrant is necessary because it does not implicate a Constitutional right.

The ability to refuse to submit to a chemical test in the OWI context is a statutory privilege and not a constitutional right. *State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 595 N.W.2d 213 (1999). A subject's "right" to refuse a blood test is simply an opportunity bestowed by the Legislature and not a constitutional right. *South Dakota v. Neville*, 459 U.S. 553, 565 (1983). There is no constitutional right to refuse a breathalyzer test. *State v. Mallick*, 210 Wis. 2d 427, 433, 565 N.W.2d 245, 247 (Ct. App. 1997); *State v. Lemberger*, 374 Wis.2d 617, 634, 893 N.W.2d 232, 240 (2017) (Defendant "had no constitutional or statutory right to refuse to take the breathalyzer test....").

The Court of Appeals in *County of Ozaukee v. Quelle* considered, and rejected, a requirement that the officer explain beyond what is dictated by statute, stating that "the court did not intend to create a new defense of 'subjective confusion,' nor did it in any way suggest that officers should be required to provide a 'reasonable explanation' of the law to any driver who remains confused after being given the standard warnings." 198 Wis. 2d 269, 281, 542 N.W.2d 169, 200 (1995).

B. The circuit court did not err in concluding that Schenian had voluntary taken the PBT.

Schenian argues the circuit court erred in its ruling that Schenian consented to a PBT when he agreed to submit to field sobriety tests and that because he did not object to the PBT that there was a violation of the law. Specifically, Schenian argues that consent to submit to field sobriety tests is not like submitting to PBT because field sobriety tests do not implicate the Fourth

Page 9 of 18

Amendment in the way the seizure of a person's breath does, and because the language the legislature chose use the word "request" in Wis. Stat. § 343.303. Brief of Appellant, at 15.

Schenian asks this Court to find that the PBT results should not be considered in the probable cause determination because he did not freely and voluntarily consent to the PBT by clear and convincing evidence. In his brief, Schenian claims that "Deputy Hartman had Mr. Schenian submit to a [PBT] ... [and] told Mr. Schenian: 'I've got one last test for you to perform, and what I'm going to need you to do yes give me approximately an 8 second breath' without 'ask[ing] specifically for the PBT." Brief of Appellant, at 8-9 (citing to R30 at 27:16-20 and 64:18-19, respectively). However, the exchange between Deputy Hartman and Schenian leading up to the PBT shows that Schenian voluntarily and freely consented to conduct a PBT.

As noted by Schenian, he was "cooperative with [Deputy Hartman] from start to finish" of their encounter, he provided "appropriate responses" to Deputy Hartman, and that "[h]is responses were intelligent." Brief of Appellant, at 9. The field sobriety test were also conducted after Deputy Hartman asked Schenian if he would submit to the tests at an interior location, which he agreed to. R30:15-16. By Deputy Hartman's account of Schenian during the field sobriety tests, there were no indications that Schenian had any difficulty understanding instructions of the field sobriety tests, specifically as it relates to the "Walk and Turn" test. R30:20-21. The PBT conducted in this matter was also administered immediately following the completion of field sobriety testing without any interruption. R30:27. It should also be noted, per Deputy Hartman's testimony during the motion hearing, that during the conversation with Deputy

Hartman that Schenian was able to tell the deputy how much he had to drink ("...five beers." R30:13), the timeframe for his drinking ("...around four in the afternoon when he started, and he had his last drink approximately two in the morning." R30:16), and when asked by the deputy if he should be driving a vehicle that Schenian stated no (R30:27).

The plain meaning of the Wis. Stat. § 343.303 reads that a PBT is voluntary in that it cannot be forced or compelled, and is in that way distinguishable from an evidentiary test of an individual's blood, breath, or urine, which may be compelled by a warrant. Furthermore, as a threshold matter, it is physically impossible for an officer to force an individual to provide a breath sample; rather, a breath sample involves an explicit and controlled expulsion breath. Therefore it is necessarily always a willful act.

Schenian also argues that Wis. Stat. § 343.303 usage of the word "request" denotes a choice and "that the legislature's choice to require officers to 'request' PBTs under § 343.303 must be given a different effect than the use of the term 'shall provide' elsewhere." Brief of Appellant, at 14-15. However, Wis. Stat. § 343.303 does not state that the PBT request made by a law enforcement officer must be made using certain words or phrases. Wis. Stat. § 343.303 does not specify that the request must be made separate from the request to perform field sobriety tests. In addition, if the legislature sought to require a particular set of words that must be used in requesting a PBT, such as it has in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4) for the Informing the Accused statute, it was certainly free to do so but chose not to do so for Wis. Stat. § 343.303. A "voluntarily taken" test does not require that a particular word or phrase be used, and stands in contrast to evidentiary tests as described in other parts of the

6

Wisconsin Statutes, such as the Informing the Accused statue under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4).

All of the information pertaining to Schenian's understanding and cooperation with the field sobriety tests prior to the PBT, the information Schenian relayed to officers about his prior consumption of alcohol, and the plain language in Wis. Stat. § 343.303 as it relates to law enforcement requesting a PBT was made known to the circuit court prior to its ruling that the PBT administered here was voluntarily taken by Schenian. Therefore, as it is clear that Schenian freely and voluntarily consented to the PBT by his observed behavior and statements to Deputy Hartman, it is clear the circuit court did not err in its ruling that Schenian had voluntarily taken the PBT and that the PBT was not done in violation of the Fourth Amendment or Wis. Stat. § 343.303.

II. THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST SCHENIAN FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED UNDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES

A. Applicable legal principles

"Probable cause to arrest is the quantum of evidence within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed or was committing a crime." *State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis.2d 201, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387, 392 (2001). The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has stated that "[i]n determining whether probable cause exists, we [must] examine the totality of the circumstances and consider whether the police officer had 'facts and circumstances within his or her knowledge sufficient to warrant a reasonable person to conclude that the defendant ... committed or [was] in the process of committing an offense."" *State v. Blatterman*, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 164, 864 N.W.2d 26, 38 (2015) (*quoting*) *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis.2d 128, 148, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990)).

Probable cause is a "practical, common-sense determination" based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Robinson, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 322, 786 N.W.2d 463, 473 (2010). A court is to assess whether law enforcement acted reasonably, keeping in mind that probabilities are "the factual and practical considerations of everyday life." See Robinson, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 26, 786 N.W.2d 463. In reviewing whether there is probable cause, the court applies an objective standard considering the information available to the officer and the officer's training and experience. State v. Lange, 317 Wis. 2d 383, 392-93, 766 N.W.2d 551, 555 (2009). In determining whether probable cause exists, the courts look to the totality of the circumstances to determine whether the "arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe ... that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant." State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis. 2d 349, 356, 525 N.W.2d 102, 104 (Ct. App. 1994) (citing State v. Nordness, 128 Wis.2d 15, 35, 381 N.W.2d 300, 308 (1986)).

Probable cause "'deals with probabilities' and must be sufficient to lead a reasonable officer to believe that guilt is more than a possibility." *State v. Blatterman*, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 164-65, 864 N.W.2d 26, 38 (2015) (quoting reference omitted). It is a "flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." *Lange*, 317 Wis. 2d at 392, 766 N.W. at 555 (quoting reference omitted).

> B. The circuit court properly concluded that Deputy Hartman had probable cause to arrest Schenian for OWI

Page 13 of 18

Schenian argues that the circuit court erred in its finding that there was probable cause to arrest Schenian for OWI under the totality of the circumstances. Specifically, Schenian argues seven points as to why probable cause did not exist, those being: (1) there were no observations by law enforcement officers or citizen witnesses of Schenian engaging in reckless, erratic, or unsafe driving; (2) the odor of intoxicants coming from Schenian and his admission to previously consuming alcohol are observations that have been "downplayed" by the Court in prior unpublished opinions; (3) Deputy Hartman did not hear Schenian slur his speech; (4) there was no testimony that Schenian was having difficulty with his fine motor skills; (5) Deputy Hartman did not observe Schenian exhibit any problems with his driving ability or in timely responding to the deputy's signal to stop; (6) Deputy Hartman did not observe Schenian have any problems with his mentation; and (7), Schenian's performance on field sobriety was "outstanding." Brief of Appellant, at 18-21. Schenian argues that these seven point case, specifically relating the lack of impairment of mentation, do not rise to a sufficient factual basis to conclude as a matter of law that Deputy Hartman had probable cause to arrest Schenian. Schenian further cites to four unpublished cases support his claim that an odor of intoxicants and his admission to previously consuming alcohol prior to operating a motor vehicle "is less than damming." Brief of Appellant, at 18.

However, just as it was noted by the circuit court, there is no citation provided that supports the proposition that the State must show impairment of Schenian's mentation in the form of slurred speech, lack of cooperation with law enforcement, or bad driving to support probable cause to arrest for OWI. R39:4. Case law is clear that probable cause is not met by a particular or preset number of observations; rather, "[i]n determining

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